Transport Proteins in Mammary Epithelial Cells

Studies in Murine (HC11) and Bovine (BME-UV) Cells – Effects of Prochloraz

Yagmur Yagdiran

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and Animal Science Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health Uppsala

Licentiate Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Report no. 7 Uppsala 2015 Report/ Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, Report no. 7

Cover: Histological sections of mouse mammary glands at various stages and a photo of a Simmental cow with a suckling calf (Y. Yagdiran and E. Ozsenturklu).

ISSN 1653-8315 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-9308-2 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-9309-9 © 2015 Yagmur Yagdiran, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2015

Transport Proteins in Mammary Epithelial Cells

Abstract

Transporters localized in membranes of secreting mammary epithelial cells are involved in delivery of essential nutrients into milk. However, drugs and other xenobiotics may be substrates of these transporters and thus be actively secreted into milk, which may pose a health threat to breastfed infants and dairy consumers.

Aims of the thesis were to determine expressions of drug transporters in mammary gland tissue and to assess mammary cell models for studies of these proteins. Gene expressions of members of the ABC (BCRP/ABCG2, MDR1/ABCB1, MRP1/ABCC1) and SLC (OATP1A2/SLCO1A2, OCTN1/SLC22A4, OCT1/SLC22A1) families were measured in murine and bovine mammary tissue and in murine (HC11) and bovine (BME-UV) mammary epithelial cell lines.

BCRP function was assessed by transport experiments with mitoxantrone (MX) in HC11 cells. Effects of the imidazole fungicide prochloraz on transporter expression and function in HC11 and BME-UV cells were examined. Expressions of BCRP and OCT1 in murine mammary glands were increased during gestation and lactation, whereas MDR1, MRP1, OATP1A2 and OCTN1 were decreased, compared to expression in virgins. All transporters measured in mammary glands of mice were detected in bovine mammary tissue. All transporters investigated in vivo were also detected in HC11 cells, while only MDR1 and MRP1 were detected in BME-UV cells. Differentiation of HC11 cells resulted in increased BCRP protein expression, while MDR1 expression was reduced. The BCRP inhibitor elacridar reduced secretion and increased accumulation of MX in both undifferentiated and differentiated HC11 cells. An increased accumulation of MX was observed in BCRP gene silenced HC11 cells. Prochloraz treatment induced MDR1 gene expression and protein function in both differentiated HC11 and BME-UV cells, resulting in decreased accumulation of the MDR1 substrate digoxin.

In conclusion, we demonstrated that the HC11 and BME-UV mammary cell models are valuable tools for identifying substrates, inhibitors and inducers of transport proteins expressed in the mammary epithelium during lactation. The models can be used both to examine if chemical compounds are actively transported into milk and if they disrupt the normal function of transporters which may result in a disturbed delivery of essential nutrients into milk.

Keywords: active transport, mammary epithelial, HC11 cells, BME-UV cells, RNAi, milk, lactation, ABC-transporters, SLC-transporters

Author's address: Yagmur Yagdiran, SLU, Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, P.O. Box 7028, 750 07 Uppsala, Sweden *E-mail:* Yagmur.Yagdiran@ slu.se

To the memory of my beloved father...

Dünyada her şey için, medeniyet için, hayat için, başarı için, en hakiki mürşit bilimdir, fendir. Mustafa Kemal Atatürk

Contents

List	of Publications	7
Abbı	reviations	9
1	Introduction	11
1.1	Milk and environmental toxicants	11
1.2	Mammary gland as a secretory organ	12
1.3	Passive and active transport by several transport pathways	12
	1.3.1 Secretion routes	12
	1.3.2 Factors influencing chemical transfer into milk	13
1.4	Transporters	13
	1.4.1 ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters	14
	1.4.2 Solute Carrier (SLC) Transporters	16
1.5	Murine (HC11) and bovine (BME-UV) mammary epithelial cell	
	lines as in vitro models	21
2	Aims of the thesis	23
3	Materials and Methods	25
3.1	Chemicals	25
3.2	Experimental models	25
	3.2.1 Mice	25
	3.2.2 The HC11 murine mammary epithelial cells (papers I and II)	25
	3.2.3 The BME-UV bovine mammary epithelial cells (paper II)	26
3.3	Experimental Techniques	26
	3.3.1 Cellular organization of HC11 cells (paper I)	26
	3.3.2 Histological characterization of mammary gland	
	tissues of mice	26
	3.3.3 Cytotoxicity	26
	3.3.4 Gene expression	26
	3.3.5 Protein expression	27
	3.3.6 Gene silencing by small interfering RNAs (paper I)	27
	3.3.7 Transport Experiments (papers I and II)	27
3.4	Statistics	28
4	Results and Discussion	29
4.1	Histology	29

	4.1.1 Mammary gland development in mouse (paper II)	29			
	4.1.2 Cellular organization of HC11 cells (paper I)	30			
4.2	Induction of β -casein gene expression (papers I and II)				
4.3	Expressions of transporters (papers I and II)				
	4.3.1 In vivo (mammary glands of mouse and cow)	31			
	4.3.2 In vitro (murine HC11 and bovine BME-UV mammary				
	epithelial cells)	33			
4.4	Effects of cell differentiation, inhibitor and Bcrp RNAi on				
	BCRP-mediated transport (paper I)	35			
4.5	Effects of prochloraz on gene expression and function				
	of transporters (paper II)				
	4.5.1 Gene expression	36			
	4.5.2 Function	38			
5	Conclusions	41			
6	Future Perspectives	43			
Refe	rences	45			
Ackn	nowledgements	55			

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Jonas Tallkvist, Yagmur Yagdiran, Louise Danielsson, Agneta Oskarsson (2015). A Model of Secreting Murine Mammary Epithelial HC11 Cells Comprising Endogenous Bcrp/Abcg2 Expression and Function. *Cell Biol Toxicol*, 31 (2), pp. 111-120
- II Yagmur Yagdiran, Agneta Oskarsson, Christopher H. Knight, Jonas Tallkvist. ABC- and SLC- Transporters in Murine and Bovine Mammary Epithelium - Effects of Prochloraz. (*Manuscript*).

Paper I is reproduced with the permission of the publisher.

The contribution of Yagmur Yagdiran to the papers included in this thesis was as follows:

- I Participated in designing the experiments and performed the main part of the practical work, compiled and analysed the data. Contributed to the writing and publishing of the paper.
- II Contributed to the planning of the work. Performed the experiments, compiled and analysed the data. Major contribution to the writing of the manuscript.

Abbreviations

ABC	ATP-binding cassette
ATP	Adenosine triphosphate
BCA	Bicinchoninic acid assay
BCRP	Breast cancer resistance protein (ABCG2)
BME-UV	Bovine mammary epithelial cell line established at the University
cells	of Vermont
cDNA	Complementary DNA
CLDs	Protein-coated cytoplasmic lipid droplets
Ct	Threshold cycle
DMSO	Dimethyl sulfoxide
EFSA	European Food Safety Authority
EGF	Epidermal growth factor
FBS	Fetal bovine serum
GF120918	Elacridar
Ham's F12	Nutrient mixture
HBSS	Hanks' Balanced Salt Solution
HC11	Murine mammary epithelial cells
cells	
HUGO	Human genome organization
JAK2	Janus kinase 2
LD	Lactation day
LDH	Lactate dehydrogenase
M/P ratio	Milk to plasma ratio
MDR1	Multidrug resistance protein 1
mRNA	Messenger ribonucleic acid
MRP1	Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1
MTS	(3-(4,5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-5-(3-carboxymethoxyphenyl)-2-(4-sulfophenyl)-2Htetrazolium)

MX	Mitoxantrone						
NBD	Nucleotide binding domain						
NCTC	Nutrient mixture						
135							
OATP1A2	Solute carrier organic anion transporter family member 1A2 (SLCO1A2/OATP-A)						
Oatp1a5	Solute carrier organic anion transporter family, member 1a5 (Slca1a5/Oatp3)						
OCT1	solute carrier family 22 (organic cation transporter), member 1 (SLC22A1)						
OCTN1	solute carrier family 22 (organic cation/zwitterion transporter), member 4 (SLC22A4)						
P-gp	Permeability glycoprotein (MDR1/ABCB1)						
PhIP	2-Amino-1-methyl-6-phenylimidazo[4,5-b]pyridine						
PRL	Prolactin						
PRLR	Prolactin receptor						
Prochloraz	N-Propyl-N-(2-(2,4,6-trichlorphenoxy)ethyl)-1H-imidazol-1- carboxamid						
RIPA	Radioimmunoprecipitation assay buffer						
buffer							
RNAi	RNA interference						
RPMI	Roswell Park Memorial Institute medium						
SDS-	Sodium dodecyl sulphate-polyacrylamide gel electrophoresis						
PAGE							
siRNA	Small interfering RNA						
SLC	Solute carrier						
Stat5	Signal Transducer and Activator of Transcription 5						
SYBR	An asymmetrical cyanine dye used as nucleic stain						
green							
T3	Triiodothyronine						
T4	Thyroxine						
TMD	Transmembrane domain						

1 Introduction

1.1 Milk and environmental toxicants

Breast milk is a valuable nutritional source for normal growth and development by providing macronutrients (sugar, fat and protein) and micronutrients (vitamins, minerals and growth factors) to the suckling infant (Pereira, 2014; Warinner *et al.*, 2014; Haug *et al.*, 2007). Nevertheless, it should be noted that milk could also be a source of chemical compounds, which may have adverse health effects in the breastfed infant (Ito & Lee, 2003; McManaman & Neville, 2003; Hallen *et al.*, 1998; Oskarsson *et al.*, 1998; Oskarsson *et al.*, 1995).

The consumption of milk and dairy products is very high and contaminants in cow's milk may cause important health problems for the population. Besides the drugs that are administered to lactating dairy cattle, these animals may also be exposed to organic pollutants, pesticides and/or mycotoxins through feed and soil. Excretion of toxicants in milk has been reported in several studies (Tornkvist *et al.*, 2011; Meucci *et al.*, 2010; Darnerud *et al.*, 2006; Schaum *et al.*, 2003). Atmospheric deposition of environmental pollutants and use of pesticides in agriculture allows grazing cows to ingest contaminated grass or hay and silage. Lipophilic properties of these toxicants lead them to distribute into fat tissues in the body including the milk fat of a lactating cow. Consequently, milk serves an efficient elimination pathway for these contaminants (Schmid *et al.*, 2003). The high consumption of milk and dairy products means that even low concentrations of toxic compounds may result in a relatively high oral intake.

1.2 Mammary gland as a secretory organ

The mammary gland development from a virgin to a milk secreting stage is stimulated by a combined action of reproductive (estrogen, progesterone and prolactin) and metabolic hormones (insulin, glucocorticoids and growth hormones) causing changes in the cellular composition of the mammary gland as well as the structural and biochemical properties of the milk synthesizing mammary epithelial cells (Neville *et al.*, 2002).

Mammary epithelial cells form a polarized single cell layer in the alveoli of lactating mammary gland (Figure 1A-B). These cells are minor units of a branching network of ducts and responsible for the secretion of several milk components into the lumen where the milk is stored (Figure 1B) (Richert *et al.*, 2000). Myoepithelial cells discontinuously surround the alveoli and establish direct contact with the basement membrane (Figure 1B). Milk ejection through the ducts is accomplished by contraction of myoepithelial cells by the action of oxytocin which is released into the systemic circulation as a result of nipple stimulation. The alveoli of the lactating gland are also surrounded with a vascularized connective tissue stroma that is composed of lipid-depleted adipocytes and fibroblasts (Figure 1B) (McManaman & Neville, 2003; Richert *et al.*, 2000).

1.3 Passive and active transport by several transport pathways

1.3.1 Secretion routes

Well-organized mechanisms act in concert to deliver essential nutrients from the blood side across mammary epithelial cells followed by its release into milk, and non-nutritional compounds may utilize same mechanisms to enter milk. Thus, different secretory transport pathways may be responsible for the presence of drugs and other xenobiotics in milk.

Endogenous substances like major milk proteins, lactose, oligosaccharides, citrate, phosphate and calcium are transported to milk across the apical membranes of alveolar cells via the exocytotic pathway (Figure 1C, III) (McManaman & Neville, 2003). Milk fat globules originating from triglyceride and cholesteryl esters are released as protein-coated cytoplasmic lipid droplets and secreted into milk via the lipid secretion pathway (Figure 1C, II) which is a process unique to mammary epithelial cells (Russell *et al.*, 2007) Macromolecular substances such as immunoglobulins, albumin and transferrin enter milk via transcytotic pathway (Figure 1C, V). Active transport requires

the presence of specific transport proteins in both apical and basolateral membranes of epithelial cells. Small molecules including ions, amino acids and glucose are actively transported into milk via this protein-mediated pathway (Figure 1C, I). Toxic compounds may also cross the lactating mammary epithelium via active transport mechanisms (protein-mediated pathway, I) or via passive transcellular diffusion of lipohilic compounds (transcytotic pathway, V). If tight junctions are affected xenobiotics may enter milk passively (paracellular pathway, IV).

The present study will focus on the details of active transport and the transporters during lactation (Figure 1C, protein-mediated pathway, I). Many of the transport proteins comprising this pathway feature broad substrate specificities and may thus actively transport both endogenous and exogenous compounds across the lactating mammary epithelium.

1.3.2 Factors influencing chemical transfer into milk

Hence, there are two basic mechanisms for secretion of toxic compounds into milk. In case of passive diffusion uncharged and lipophilic chemicals are secreted into milk until the concentration of the residues reaches equilibrium between plasma and milk. The amount of residues present in milk can be predicted by molecular size of the chemical, lipophilicity, plasma protein binding and pKa (Fleishaker, 2003; Agatonovic-Kustrin *et al.*, 2002).

Calculation of the ratio between the concentrations of chemicals in milk and in plasma (M/P ratio) over time is used to assess participation of passive or active processes. In the case of passive diffusion the M/P ratio is ≤ 1 and in case of active transport M/P ratio is > 1 (Fleishaker, 2003; Ito & Lee, 2003; Gerk *et al.*, 2001).

1.4 Transporters

A large number of membrane transport proteins have been characterized. Two major classes are involved in the transfer of drugs and xenobiotics classified as the ATP-binding cassette (ABC-) and solute carrier (SLC-) transporters. Members of these families are expressed in the apical or basolateral membrane of polarized epithelial cells in the intestine, liver, kidney, blood brain barrier, placenta as well as mammary gland and play an important role in chemical absorption, distribution and elimination in the body (Russel, 2010; Sai & Tsuji, 2004; Ito & Alcorn, 2003).

Transport proteins belonging to both the ABC- and SLC- superfamilies are expressed at various levels depending on lactation stage of the mammary gland (Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Jonker *et al.*, 2005; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002). This

altered expression allows some of these transporters to deliver vitamins, fatty acids, sterols, porphyrins and amino acids to the nursed offspring via milk (Vlaming *et al.*, 2009; van Herwaarden *et al.*, 2007; Kwok *et al.*, 2006). The transporters have substrate specificity not only for nutrients but also for drugs and xenobiotics which may be actively transported resulting in high concentrations in milk (Figure 1C) (Ito *et al.*, 2014; Kindla *et al.*, 2011; Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Kwok *et al.*, 2006; Jonker *et al.*, 2005; Ito & Alcorn, 2003).

1.4.1 ATP-binding cassette (ABC) transporters

ABC transporters are membrane proteins consisting of seven subfamilies named A to G (Szakacs *et al.*, 2008). Their existence and conserved structure across different organisms emphasize the fact that these transporters are fundamental for all living systems (Jones & George, 2004). ABC transporters function as efflux pumps and are involved in the excretion of chemicals across the membranes of epithelial cells against a concentration gradient into the bloodstream or a lumen using ATP hydrolysis as energy source (Russel, 2010; Couture *et al.*, 2006). ABC transporters generally have the similar conserved structure that is composed of transmembrane domains (TMDs) and nucleotide-binding domains (NBDs) (Szakacs *et al.*, 2008; Chan *et al.*, 2004; Jones & George, 2004). Three subfamilies of this family are particularly involved in transport of drugs and xenobiotics, which are known as *ABCB*, *ABCC* and *ABCG* families.

Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2)

BCRP belongs to the G subfamily of the ABC family. The gene was first cloned from a human breast carcinoma cell line in 1998 (Doyle *et al.*, 1998). BCRP is a half transporter protein comprised of one NBD and one TMD with six transmembrane α -helices. Thus, BCRP is thought to function as a homodimer (Jani *et al.*, 2014; Staud & Pavek, 2005; Chan *et al.*, 2004). BCRP is a 72-kDa protein with 665 amino acids (Staud & Pavek, 2005) detected in epithelial of numerous normal (non-tumorigenic) tissues such as colon, liver, placenta, intestine, mammary glands and many others (Fetsch *et al.*, 2006; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002; Maliepaard *et al.*, 2001). From the physiological point of view, apical localization of BCRP in the polarized cells exhibits a general protective role by reducing the levels of drugs and xenobiotics in the cells by active efflux of its substrates (Maliepaard *et al.*, 2001).

Expression of BCRP is induced in the apical membrane of mammary epithelial cells in mammary glands of various species during lactation (Jonker *et al.*, 2005). Although, BCRP generally has a protective function in other

tissues, the reason for its role in the mammary gland remains unclear. However, BCRP has substrate specificity to a number of vitamins including vitamin K3 (Shukla *et al.*, 2007), riboflavin (van Herwaarden *et al.*, 2007) and folic acid (Assaraf, 2006). Apical expression of BCRP along with the induced expression in lactating mammary epithelial cells may suggest a physiological role for the secretion of these nutrients into milk during lactation (Lindner *et al.*, 2013; van Herwaarden *et al.*, 2007; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002).

Unfortunately, several drugs and toxins, including topotecan, 2-amino-1methyl-6-phenylimidazo [4,5-b] pyridine (PhIP) (Jonker *et al.*, 2005), mitoxantrone (Imai *et al.*, 2003; Litman *et al.*, 2000), nitrofurantonin (Merino *et al.*, 2005), ciprofloxacin (Merino *et al.*, 2006), and enrofloxacin (Pulido *et al.*, 2006), have been identified as BCRP substrates which are transported and concentrated in milk by this efflux protein.

Prochloraz (N-propyl-N-[2-(2,4,6-trichlorophenoxy)ethyl]-1H-imidazole-1carboxamide) is an imidazole fungicide used in agriculture and horticulture that may cause a general exposure through consumption of fruit and vegetables (EFSA, 2011). Prochloraz is an endocrine disruptor with various modes of action (Ohlsson *et al.*, 2009; Vinggaard *et al.*, 2006). Treatment of primary bovine mammary epithelial cells with prochloraz resulted in increased BCRP expression through AhR activation (Halwachs *et al.*, 2013).

Multi drug resistance protein 1 (MDR1/ABCB1)

MDR1 (also known as Permeability-glycoprotein or P-gp) was the first cloned drug carrier from colchicine-resistant Chinese hamster ovary cells (Juliano & Ling, 1976) and is the best characterized protein of the ABC transporter family (Silva *et al.*, 2015). The gene encodes a 170-kDa single polypeptide with 1280 amino acids (Hoffmann & Kroemer, 2004; Leonessa & Clarke, 2003). Similar to other ABC family members, MDR1 consists of two TMDs each containing six transmembrane helices and two cytoplasmic NBDs (Jones & George, 2004).

MDR1 is present with a high expression at the apical surface of the epithelial cells in liver, colon, kidney proximal tubules and pancreatic ductules. The tissue localization as an efflux transporter in excretory organs, suggest that MDR1 plays a role in the protection of the organs by effluxing metabolites and xenobiotics out of the epithelial cells (Silva *et al.*, 2015).

Beside these tissues, MDR1 is expressed in mammary glands of mouse, rat and human although with lower abundance during lactation (Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Jonker *et al.*, 2005; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002). MDR1 has broad substrate specificity to hydrophobic neutral or positively charged molecules including anticancer chemotherapeutic reagents and xenobiotics (Ito & Alcorn, 2003). The physiological role for the decline in expression of MDR1 in the apical membranes of secreting mammary epithelial cells remains obscure but may reflect an adaptive response to prevent efflux of xenobiotics or drugs into milk in order to protect the nursing neonate from exposure (Alcorn *et al.*, 2002).

Multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1/ABCC1)

MRP1 is one of nine members of ATP-binding cassette C subfamily. It was first cloned from a multidrug resistant human small cell lung cancer cell line (H69R) that does not express MDR1 (Bakos & Homolya, 2007; Chan *et al.*, 2004; Cole *et al.*, 1992). MRP1 gene encodes a 190-kDa protein comprising 1531 amino acids. It features three TMDs instead of two and 17 transmembrane helices together with two NBDs (Gradhand & Kim, 2008).

MRP1 is an efflux pump and notably expressed on the basolateral membrane of sarcolemma cells in heart, bronchial epithelium cells in lungs, Leydig and Sertoli cells in testes, crypt cells in intestine, urinary collecting ducts and glomeruli in kidney but also on the apical membrane of endothelial cells in placenta and capillary endothelial cells in brain (Klaassen & Aleksunes, 2010; Leslie *et al.*, 2005). Substrates of MRP1 include amphipathic compounds and glutathione S-conjugates, oxidized glutathione, leukotriene C4 and several cancer chemotherapeutics (Chan *et al.*, 2004). Although the subcellular localization of MRP1 has not yet been verified, gene and protein expressions have been shown to be down regulated during lactation in human mammary epithelial cells as well as in mammary glands of mice and rats (Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Jonker *et al.*, 2005; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002).

1.4.2 Solute Carrier (SLC) Transporters

The solute carrier transporter family is the largest group of transporters with 298 members in 43 subfamilies based on HUGO assembly sequences. The members are divided based on their function and different biochemical properties (Fredriksson *et al.*, 2008). As a result, they can function as coupled transporters, exchangers/antiporters related with cellular sodium gradient and as passive or active transporters (Fredriksson *et al.*, 2008). Unlike the ATP family, members of the SLC family use secondary and tertiary active transport typically in the uptake (influx) or bidirectional transport of chemicals across biological membranes (Klaassen & Aleksunes, 2010). To assure the driving force by secondary active transport against a diffusion gradient, there should be a connection to the symport or antiport of inorganic or organic ions. Most of

the proteins in the family generally have the similar structure with 12 putative transmembrane domains and have molecular sizes between 50-100-kDa (Russel, 2010). Localization of these transporters can be either apical or basolateral depending on the tissue and cell type (Roth *et al.*, 2012).

In the present study we will focus on some representative transporters from three different subfamilies including the organic anion organic polypeptide (SLCO), organic cation transporter (SLC47) and organic cation/carnitine transporter (SLC22) families.

Solute carrier organic anion transporter family member 1A2 (OATP1A2/SLCO1A2)

OATP1A2 is a member of SLCO family and it was isolated by hybridization screening from human liver as the first human superfamily member (Hagenbuch & Meier, 2003). Radiation hybrid analysis and fluorescent in situ hybridization have demonstrated that the human OATP1A2 gene [previously called OATP-A (Hagenbuch & Meier, 2004)] is localized to chromosome 12. These studies also showed that OATP1A2 is the human orthologue of mouse Oatp1a5 [previously called Oatp3 (Hagenbuch & Meier, 2004)] High degree of identity (72%) supported this argument when OATP1A2 and Oatp1a5 amino acid sequences were aligned (Walters *et al.*, 2000).

OATP1A2 is an influx transporter that functions in a Na+ independent manner. This transporter has broad substrate specificity particularly to anionic compounds (Arakawa *et al.*, 2012). Human OATP1A2 is apically localized on cholangiocytes in liver, enterocytes in small intestine, and distal tubules in kidney. Mouse and rat Oatp1a5 also have apical localization in epithelial cells of choroid plexus, endothelial cells of and brain and enterocytes of jejunum, respectively (Klaassen & Aleksunes, 2010).

Expression of OATP1A2 (OATP-A) was detected in human mammary epithelial cells and transcript levels demonstrated to be upregulated during lactation (Alcorn *et al.*, 2002). OATP1A2 (Oatp1a5) has a significant role in non-tumorigenic tissues by mediating the transport of endogenous substrates such as conjugated and free bile salts, thyroid hormones (T3 and T4), steroids and steroid conjugates. Similar to other transporters OATP1A2 has also substrate specificity to exogenous compounds and drugs including erythromycin and imatinib (Liu & Li, 2014; Kalliokoski & Niemi, 2009; Ito & Alcorn, 2003). The physiological role for OATP1A2 induction in the lactating mammary gland remains unclear but may suggest a contribution to organic anion transfer in mammary epithelium resulting in an accumulation of this type of compounds in milk.

Organic cation transporter 1 (OCT1/SLC22A1)

OCT1 was found as a first member of organic cation transporter family that was cloned from a rat kidney cDNA library (Grundemann *et al.*, 1994). Shortly after, its mouse and human orthologues were also cloned (Klaassen & Aleksunes, 2010). Human OCT1 mRNA is predominantly expressed in liver compared to other organs whereas high abundances for the murine orthologue Oct1 was observed in both liver and kidneys (Koepsell, 2013; Klaassen & Aleksunes, 2010; Koepsell & Endou, 2004). OCT1 is also induced during lactation in mammary glands of mouse, rat and human (Ito et al., 2014; Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Alcorn et al., 2002). Cellular localization of the protein can differ depending on the tissue and species. Oct1 proteins have been reported to be localized to the basolateral membrane of proximal tubules in rat kidney while others have reported localization of OCT1 in the apical membranes of proximal and distal tubules in humans (Koepsell, 2013; Klaassen & Aleksunes, 2010; Koepsell & Endou, 2004). OCT1 mediates transport of organic cations that are positively charged at physiological pH. This transport functions in an electrogenic manner that is independent from sodium. The substrate list for OCT1 is wide and include many endogenous compounds such as neuromodulators cyclo (His-Pro), prostaglandins, salsolinol and metabolites like putrescine and agmatine and drugs such as antiparkinsonians, antidiabetics, some carcinogen toxins like aflatoxin B1 and ethidiumbromide (Koepsell, 2013; Jonker & Schinkel, 2004; Sai & Tsuji, 2004).

In general, OCT1 has roles in the hepatic excretion of cationic drugs, reabsorption of ultra-filtrated cations in kidney, the absoption of drugs in lungs and also passage of endogenous substrates of drugs across blood-brain barrier (Koepsell, 2013).

The exact membrane localization of OCT1 in mammary gland remains to be elucidated. Therefore, it is difficult to make interpretation about its physiological roles in lactating mammary gland. However, secretion of important nutrients into milk such as thiamine (vitamin B1) may suggest one of the possible role of OCT1 (Ito *et al.*, 2014). Furthermore, prostaglandins which are substrates of OCT1 are found in human milk that may be in relation to the protective role of milk lipids (Lucas & Mitchell, 1980). In addition, cooperative vectorial transport of cimetidine and acyclovir into milk, which are substrates for both Bcrp and Oct1, suggested that Oct1 probably expressed on the basolateral side of the membrane in mouse mammary epithelial cells. Oct1 exhibits substrate uptake from blood into the cell while Bcrp permits substrate secretion from cell into the milk (Ito *et al.*, 2014).

Organic cation transporter novel protein type1 (OCTN1/SLC22A4)

OCTN1 is encoded by SLC22A4 gene, which was cloned from human fetal kidney (Tamai *et al.*, 1997). OCTN1 is expressed in different tissues such as intestine, liver, kidney, brain, heart, skeletal muscle and mammary gland of mouse, rat and human (Koepsell, 2013; Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002). Immunohistochemical studies revealed that Octn1 is predominantly localized in the blood vessel endothelium and in the apical membranes of secretory mammary cells in rat mammary glands (Lamhonwah *et al.*, 2011). A recent study has also demonstrated that OCTN1 is localized within the mitochondrial cells suggesting a possible mechanism required for carnitine transport into the organelle (Lamhonwah & Tein, 2006).

OCTN1 has been shown as multi-specific, bidirectional, pH dependent transporter (Yabuuchi et al., 1999) therefore it may undertake different roles in the plasma membranes as cation exchanger, as sodium dependent or independent transporter for zwitterions and as organic cation/proton exchanger that exhibits crucial functions for the system (Koepsell, 2013). Similar to other transporters reviewed above, OCTN1 also has substrate specificity to endogenous compounds as well as drugs and xenobiotics. Among all these, the most prominent substrates are zwitterions that include L-carnitine. It is a small water-soluble compound has critical physiological roles as a cofactor that involves in the β -oxidation of long chain fatty acids and glucose oxidation in the muscle and heart for ATP generation (Lamhonwah et al., 2011). Octn1/OCTN1 gene and protein expression have been demonstrated to be up regulated during lactation in mammary gland of rats and in human mammary epithelial cells (Lamhonwah et al., 2011; Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Ling & Alcorn, 2010; Alcorn et al., 2002). L-carnitine, which is essential for early brain growth and development of the physiologically immature infant, is not synthesized endogenously and delivery is maintained by protein-mediated transport into milk.



Figure 1. A schematic illustration of a mammary gland at lactating stage (A). Mammary alveolus consists of different cell types. Mammary epithelial cells are surrounded by myoepithelial cells that play an important role in ejection of milk into the ductal lumen (B). Transport pathways that occur in the mammary epithelial cells. *I: Protein-mediated transport pathway; II: Lipid secretion pathway; II: Exocytotic pathway; IV: Paracellular pathway; V: Transcytotic pathway (C). *Active transport of chemical compounds via the protein mediated pathway is carried out by transport proteins that belong to ABC and SLC superfamilies. Cellular localizations of the transporters shown in the figure with (?) are predictions based on localizations previously demonstrated in other tissues.

1.5 Murine (HC11) and bovine (BME-UV) mammary epithelial cell lines as in vitro models

Polarized cell lines without recombinant genes and proteins allow us to study endogenous transport mechanisms. Therefore, the cell lines chosen for studying these processes must exhibit functional and morphological properties similar to in vivo cell layers in order to make correlations. Consequently, these models can be applied as tools to gain knowledge regarding function of transport mechanisms where the findings may be extrapolated to humans.

HC11 cells are derived from mammary glands of BALB/c mice during midpregnancy (Danielson *et al.*, 1984). This cell line is the first clone of nontumorigenic COMMA-1D cells that take on a secreting phenotype upon prolactin treatment resembling mammary epithelial cells in the lactating mammary gland. β -casein induction is accomplished in the presence of lactogenic hormones especially by prolactin without any requirement for an extracellular matrix or co-cultivation with adipocytes and/or fibroblasts (Ball *et al.*, 1988).

BME-UV cells are non-tumorigenic mammary epithelial cells originating from mammary gland tissue of a lactating and pregnant Holstein cow. Optimal conditions for casein synthesis for the BME-UV cells have not yet been established. However, there is evidence that BME-UV cells are producing low levels of α_{s1} -casein and k-casein and displaying some of the important functions of mammary epithelial cells (Zavizion *et al.*, 1996).

Morphological and functional changes in mammary epithelial cells in vitro are regulated with signalling pathways (Groner & Gouilleux, 1995). These pathways are synergistically regulated by different hormones including epidermal growth factor (EGF), insulin, prolactin (PRL) and glucocorticoids (Pauloin & Chanat, 2012; Shan et al., 2008). In the presence of insulin and EGF, mammary epithelial cells grown to confluency, become competent and ready to respond to lactogenic hormones (Shan et al., 2008). The initial step in the mechanism of action of PRL starts when it binds to the cell surface receptor, prolactin receptor (PRLR). This coupling causes ligand-induced dimerization and leads to phosphorylation and activation of JAK2 (Januse) kinases. Subsequently, this induces phosphorylation of the tyrosine residues in the C-terminal tail of the prolactin receptor. As a result, it creates specific domains for proteins like signal transducer and activator of transcription 5 protein (Stat5), which is capable of, translocate to nucleus. Transcription of genes that code for milk proteins starts when activated Stat5 dimers bind to certain specific sites on their promoter region (Bole-Feysot et al., 1998: Groner & Gouilleux, 1995).

The synergistic effect of glucocorticoids with insulin and prolactin regarding differentiation should be also taken into consideration (Desrivieres *et al.*, 2007). Physical interaction of glucocorticoid receptor with Stat 5 upon glucocorticoid binding assists the ability of Stat5 to activate β -casein transcription (Desrivieres *et al.*, 2007). In addition, it has been shown that induction of genes that code milk proteins failed when one of these hormones eliminated (Pauloin & Chanat, 2012; Desrivieres *et al.*, 2007; Stocklin *et al.*, 1996).

2 Aims of the thesis

The overall aims of thesis were to determine expressions of ABC- and SLCtransporters in mammary gland tissue and to assess whether the HC11 and BME-UV mammary cell models can be applied to determine substrates, inducers and inhibitors of transporters expressed in the mammary epithelium during lactation.

More specific aims were to:

- 1. Investigate gene expressions of endogenous Bcrp, Mdr1, Mrp1, Oatp1a5, Octn1 and Oct1 in mammary glands of mice in virgins and at various gestation and lactation stages and BCRP, MDR1, MRP1, OATP1A2 and OCTN1 in mammary glands of lactating cows.
- 2. Examine gene expressions and function of transporters in HC11 cells with a secretion phenotype and BME-UV cells derived from a lactating cow.
- 3. Assess the effect of prochloraz on gene expression and function of transporters in the HC11 and BME-UV cell models.

3 Materials and Methods

The materials and methods used in this thesis are described and presented in detail in each paper. The following is a short overview of the methods compiled from paper I and paper II.

3.1 Chemicals

All chemicals used were of analytical grade and purchased from regular commercial sources. Detailed information on chemicals and the commercial sources of reagents are presented in the papers.

3.2 Experimental models

3.2.1 Mice

Mammary gland tissues of mice were either used to test the specificity of primers for the real-time RT-PCR with cellular RNA and to examine mRNA expression levels of transporters at different lactation stages.

Litter sizes were normalized to ten on lactation day (LD) 1 and the dams with litters were kept in individual cages (the day of parturition = LD 0). On these respective days of pregnancy (gestational day 13 and18), lactation (day 2 and 9), involution (weaning day 2) or virgin animals were killed by cervical dislocation and mammary glands were rapidly dissected and stored in RNAlater solution at -70°C until total RNA extraction. All animal experiments were approved by a Local Ethics Committee of Animal Research (permit no. 2012-15-2934-00587).

3.2.2 The HC11 murine mammary epithelial cells (papers I and II)

HC11 cells were maintained in RPMI 1640 medium containing insulin, fetal bovine serum (FBS), epidermal growth factor (EGF) and gentamycin in an

atmosphere of 95% air and 5% CO_2 in 95% relative humidity. The cell culture medium was changed every 2-3 days and cells sub-cultured when they reached 80-90% confluency. To induce lactogenic differentiation, medium was replaced with differentiation medium supplemented with prolactin and hydrocortisone (EGF and FBS free) and incubated for additional 72 h.

3.2.3 The BME-UV bovine mammary epithelial cells (paper II)

Cells were maintained in sterile filtered RPMI 1640 medium supplemented with FBS, Ham's F12, NCTC 135, lactose, lactalbumin hydrolysate, GSH, L ascorbic acid, hydrocortisone, insulin and gentamycin in polycarbonate flasks at 37°C in a humidified 5% CO₂ incubator until confluence as described (Zavizion *et al.*, 1996). Prolactin was added to the cells 72 h prior to isolation of RNA for gene expression measurements or transport experiments as described (Liu *et al.*, 2006).

3.3 Experimental Techniques

3.3.1 Cellular organization of HC11 cells (paper I)

Cells were seeded on a chamber slide and grown until confluence. Chambers covering half of the slide were used for undifferentiated HC11 cells (controls) while the cells in other half were differentiated as described above. Subsequently, cells were fixed with refrigerated acetone and stained with hematoxylin in order to examine cellular organization under microscope.

3.3.2 Histological characterization of mammary gland tissues of mice

Samples of the mammary glands for histology were fixed in 4% paraformaldehyde and dehydrated in ethanol saline buffer. Tissues were imbedded in paraffin and sections were stained with hematoxylin and eosin.

3.3.3 Cytotoxicity

Cytotoxicity was measured by MTS test that was carried out according to the instructions of the manufacturer (Promega).

3.3.4 Gene expression

The quantitative gene expression of the murine and bovine β -casein, Bcrp, Mdr1, Mrp1, Oatp1A2/1a5, Octn1, Oct1 and murine Cyclophilin B was measured by real time RT-PCR on a RotorGene 3000 using the One-tube QuantiTectTM SYBR®Green RT-PCR kit according to the manufacturer's instructions (for details, see papers I and II). The primers used, which were specific for both murine and bovine mRNA, are presented in Table 1 (papers I

and II). Gene expressions were normalized to total RNA and relative quantifications of normalized gene expressions were performed by comparing the threshold cycles (Ct) of untreated and treated samples according to the $2^{-\Delta Ct}$ method (Livak & Schmittgen, 2001). Fold differences were calculated setting untreated controls to one.

3.3.5 Protein expression

Protein expressions of drug transporters in the murine mammary epithelial cells (HC11) were quantified by Western blot. HC11 cells and mammary gland tissues were homogenized in RIPA-lysis buffer and total protein concentrations were quantified using the bicinchoninic acid (BCA) protein assay. Cellular proteins were separated by SDS-PAGE and blotted on to nitrocellulose membranes prior to blocking and antibody (Bcrp and Mdr1) hybridizations (for detail, see paper I). Intensities of obtained bands were quantified by the OptiQuant software using a ChemiDoc instrument (BioRad). In the analyses expression of target proteins was normalized to protein expression of tubulin.

3.3.6 Gene silencing by small interfering RNAs (paper I)

RNA interference (RNAi) is a process where target genes are silenced in a sequence specific manner with short interfering RNAs (siRNA) (Dykxhoorn *et al.*, 2003).

We first optimized transfection efficiency conditions in HC11 cells by testing various cell densities and dilutions of transfection reagents. Optimization was accomplished using the housekeeping gene cyclophilin B. Following gene silencing, efficient siRNA transfection was verified by quantitative real-time RT-PCR with specific primers to cyclophilin B. Using the same protocol with Bcrp siRNA-duplexes Bcrp-transcript levels were reduced to the same extent as cyclophilin B.

3.3.7 Transport Experiments (papers I and II)

For both accumulation and secretion studies, HC11 and BME-UV cells were seeded in 12 well plates, cultured and treated as described above. Mitoxantrone (MX) or digoxin were used to examine the function of BCRP or MDR1 respectively in the HC11 and BME-UV using ³H-MX or ³H-digoxin as tracers. Both accumulation and secretion of MX or digoxin were normalized to total cellular protein of the HC11 and BME-UV cells (for details, see papers I and II).

3.4 Statistics

Non-parametric methods; Kruskal-Wallis and Mann-Whitney Rank-Sum tests were used. Data was first analyzed by the Kruskal-Wallis test to detect statistical significant differences between experimental groups. Subsequently, Mann-Whitney Rank-sum test was applied to demonstrate statistically significant differences between pairs of groups. The level of significance was set at $p \le 0.05$. All statistical analyses were performed in Statview or MiniTab.

4 Results and Discussion

4.1 Histology

4.1.1 Mammary gland development in mouse (paper II)

Histological changes in mammary gland of mouse throughout different stages are shown in Figure 2B. It is a brief presentation of morphological changes that occur during mammary gland development. Prior to pregnancy, mammary gland consists mainly of adipose tissue (V). During gestation days 13-18, alveolar lobules start to develop and partly fill the fat pad (G13 and G18). The epithelial cells are able to produce milk proteins and lipids at gestation day 18 (arrow, G18). Alveolar lobules turn into secretory structures that are surrounded by adipocytes at the beginning of lactation (L2). During peak lactation (L9) the mammary gland consists mainly of alveolar structures with large and milk filled lumina. At the end of lactation, a remodelling of the mammary gland occurs in a process called involution comprising a degeneration of alveolar cells and an increase in fat content, typical of nonlactating mammary glands observed prior to pregnancy (W2).

Knowledge about mammary gland development may provide insight into its histological characteristics during lactation. Thus, morphological differences between virgin, pregnant and lactating mammary gland tissues can be used as a marker for differentiation of cultured mammary epithelial cells.

4.1.2 Cellular organization of HC11 cells (paper I)

Lactogenic differentiation of the HC11 cells by prolactin and glucocorticoids resulted in the following morphological changes (Figure 2A). Undifferentiated HC11 cells were organized as a monolayer (Figure 2A, left), while alveolar-like structures including lumina appeared in the differentiated cells resembling the pattern that is observed in the mammary glands in vivo during lactation (Figure 2B) (Richert *et al.*, 2000; Burgoyne & Duncan, 1998).

4.2 Induction of β-casein gene expression (papers I and II)

Beside the changes in cellular organization by lactogenic stimulation β -casein gene expression was also induced in the HC11 cells. The relative β -casein gene expression was significantly increased 2-fold in the differentiated as compared to the undifferentiated HC11 cells (Figure 2C, left). It has previously been demonstrated that β -case in responds to prolactin in HC11 cells (Ball *et* al., 1988) and that synthesis occurs in rodent mammary epithelial cells in vivo and that the abundance of this milk protein increases during gestation and peaks at mid-lactation (McManaman & Neville, 2003; Richert et al., 2000; Burgovne & Duncan, 1998; Robinson et al., 1995). Our results once more demonstrated a gradual increase in β-casein expression through gestation days 13 and 18, which continued at lactation days 2 and 9 (Figure 2C right). Compared to the highest level observed at lactation day 9 the expression was reduced at weaning day 2 (p=0.05) (Figure 2C, right). Thus, reorganization of HC11 cells into alveolar-resembling formations in combination with an increased β -casein gene expression by lactogenic stimulation appears to be reliable markers of a secreting phenotype.



Figure 2. Cellular organization of undifferentiated (left) and differentiated (right) HC11 cells (A). Histological characterization and progression of mammary gland differentiation in virgin mice (V), during pregnancy (G13 and G18), lactation (L2 and L9) and involution (W2) (B). All sections have been stained with hematoxylin and eosin. Magnification 20X. β -casein expression in undifferentiated and differentiated murine (HC11) mammary epithelial cells (left) and murine mammary gland at various stages (right) (C). Statistically significant differences as compared to undifferentiated controls or virgins *p ≤0.05; **p≤0.01.

4.3 Expressions of transporters (papers I and II)

4.3.1 In vivo (mammary glands of mouse and cow)

Messenger RNA expression levels of Bcrp, Mdr1, Mrp1, Oatp1a5, Octn1 and Oct1 in mammary gland tissues were measured at different stages of gestation and lactation of mice by real time RT-PCR (paper II). Expressions were normalized to mRNA levels in virgins and presented as fold differences in Table 1 (for details, see paper II).

Our results revealed that all transporters sought were present in the mouse mammary glands with different expression patterns. Bcrp expression in the mice followed a similar pattern as β -casein expression with a continuous increase during gestation and lactation and a relative reduction at weaning day

2 compared to lactation day 9 (p=0.05) (Table 1). A gradual decrease in Mdr1 expression was detected in the mammary gland tissues of mice through gestation days 13 and 18 which continued at lactation days 2 and 9 (Table 1). At weaning day 2 Mdr1 expression was increased as compared to lactation day 9 (p=0.05) (Table 1). Gene expression of Mrp1 followed a similar pattern as Mdr1 with a successive reduction in transcript levels through gestation and lactation and a relative increase at weaning day 2 (Figure 1d). Oatp1a5 gene expression started to decrease in mouse mammary gland tissues at late gestation and was lowest at lactation day 9 (Table 1). Similar to Oatp1a5, mRNA levels of Octn1 mRNA decreased continuously through gestation, lactation and weaning. Oct1 expression was increased at gestation and lactation and reduced at weaning day 2 (Table 1).

Table 1. Fold differences in transporter mRNA levels in mammary glands of mice compared to virgin (mean of 3-4 mice).

Transporter Gene	Virgin	G13	G18	L2	L9	W2
Bcrp	1	3.47	14.29	23.5	31.01	3.23
Mdr1	1	0.40	0.23	0.09	0.07	0.18
Mrp1	1	0.41	0.35	0.08	0.05	0.20
Oatp1a5	1	1.41	0.37	0.04	0.01	0.02
Octn1	1	0.51	0.14	0.04	0.03	0.10
Oct1	1	0.98	1.42	1.69	1.56	0.32

In lactating human mammary epithelial cells OATP1A2 and OCTN1 are upregulated (Alcorn *et al.*, 2002). Our results showed that both these SLC transporters were expressed in murine mammary epithelial cells but were down-regulated in the lactating mammary glands of mice. The reason for this discrepancy in expressions is not known. However, possible explanations may involve species differences or the fact that mammary gland tissue is comprised not only of epithelial cells but also of other cell types such as myoepithelial cells and ductal cells which may contribute to this result. Supporting this hypothesis, our results with the cultured murine mammary epithelial HC11 cells showed that mRNA levels of Oatp1a5 were increased and Octn1 transcript levels not reduced by prolactin induced differentiation. In line with previous reports our results demonstrated that both Bcrp and Oct1 were most abundant during peak lactation as assessed by the peak in β -casein expression, whereas Mdr1 and Mrp1 expressions were reduced at this stage (Table 1) (Ito

et al., 2014; Shi *et al.*, 2014; Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Jonker *et al.*, 2005; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002; Robinson *et al.*, 1995).

In bovine mammary gland tissue β -casein, BCRP, MDR1, MRP1, OATP1A2 and OCTN1 gene expressions were detected (data not shown). A limited number of cows were analysed and no data on expression related to various lactation stages is available. However, the results showed that the bovine specific primers and RT-PCR method is functional.

4.3.2 In vitro (murine HC11 and bovine BME-UV mammary epithelial cells)

In papers I and II, gene expressions of Bcrp, Mdr1, Mrp1, Oatp1a5, Octn1 and Oct1 were identified in both undifferentiated and differentiated HC11 cells. Statistically significant up-regulation in Oatp1a5 gene expression was observed in the differentiated HC11 cells as compared to the undifferentiated controls (Figure 3, left). Mdr1 gene expression was statistically significantly reduced in the differentiated HC11 cells as compared to the undifferentiated controls (Figure 3, left). No significant difference due to differentiation was observed in Bcrp, Mrp1, Octn1 and Oct1 gene expressions (Figure 3, left). The reason for the lack of induction of Bcrp mRNA in the HC11 cells by lactogenic stimulation is unknown. However, one possible explanation may be that the HC11 cells originally derive from mammary tissue of BALB/c mice during gestation when Bcrp transcript levels are induced to a stage where no further increases in gene expression occur (Jonker et al., 2005; Danielson et al., 1984). Among the genes examined only MDR1 and MRP1 were detected in the BME-UV cells (Figure 3, right). No difference was observed in MDR1 or MRP1 gene expressions after prolactin treatment of the cells (Figure 3, right).



Figure 3. Relative gene expressions of transporters in undifferentiated (control) and differentiated HC11 cells (left) and prolactin treated BME-UV cells (right). Statistically significant differences as compared to controls *p ≤ 0.05 .

In addition to gene expressions, Bcrp- and Mdr1-protein was detected in both undifferentiated and differentiated HC11 cells (paper I). Bcrp protein expression was up-regulated and Mdr1 protein expression down-regulated in the differentiated as compared to the undifferentiated HC11 cells (paper I). These results are in line with the in vivo findings that BCRP is up-regulated and MDR1 down-regulated of lactating mammary glands of various species (Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Jonker *et al.*, 2005; Alcorn *et al.*, 2002) and suggest that the HC11 model can be used to both assess function of endogenous Bcrp and Mdr1 to detect new substrates as well as inducers and inhibitors of these transporters.

HC11 cells have been used as a model for studies on hormonal regulation of mammary epithelial cell differentiation as well as milk protein gene expression and secretion (Kabotyanski *et al.*, 2006; Desrivieres *et al.*, 2003; Wartmann *et al.*, 1996). Furthermore, HC11 cells have been applied to examine the impact of cadmium on lactating mammary cells (Öhrvik *et al.*, 2006) and also to characterize some transporters belonging to the Solute Carrier (SLC) family and ion channels, which are implicated in the flux of magnesium, zinc, copper and calcium across the membranes of the lactating mammary epithelium (Ross *et al.*, 2013; McCormick & Kelleher, 2012; Öhrvik *et al.*, 2011; Wolf *et al.*, 2010; Boyd & Naray-Fejes-Toth, 2007; Kelleher & Lonnerdal, 2006; Kelleher & Lonnerdal, 2005). However, the HC11 cell model has not yet been used to characterize expression and/or function of ATP Binding Cassette (ABC) transporters. The localization of both BCRP and MDR1 in the apical membranes of mammary epithelial cells in combination with the promiscuity

of these active transporters has risen considerable concern from public health, food safety, and regulatory perspectives about the presence of drugs and toxic compounds in milk both for breast fed infants as well as for consumers of dairy products (Wassermann *et al.*, 2013).

In paper II we identified gene expressions of Mrp1, Oatp1a5 (the mouse orthologue to human and bovine OATP1A2), Octn1 and Oct1 in HC11 cells with a secreting phenotype. Conceivably, the HC11 cell model may also be applicable to investigate substrates as well as inducers and inhibitors of these other ABC and SLC transporters. In the bovine mammary epithelial BME-UV cells only MDR1 and MRP1 gene expressions were detected. The lack of expressions of BCRP, OATP1A2 and OCTN1 in the BME-UV cells may be due to a number of reasons such as loss of transcription factors and selection of cells during passages, higher passage numbers or culturing conditions (Monzani *et al.*, 2011; Blum *et al.*, 1989; Larson, 1976).

4.4 Effects of cell differentiation, inhibitor and Bcrp RNAi on BCRP-mediated transport (paper I)

The transport experiments with the BCRP substrate ³H-mitoxantrone (MX) showed that the accumulation was increased in both undifferentiated and differentiated HC11 cells simultaneously incubated with the BCRP inhibitor GF120918 (Table 2). Thus, in the presence of the BCRP inhibitor the accumulation of MX increased with about 21% in the undifferentiated HC11 cells and with about 36% in the differentiated ones. Our results also showed that the accumulation of MX was higher in the differentiated HC11 cells as compared to the undifferentiated controls (Table 2). The presence of the inhibitor GF120918 also resulted in a decreased secretion of MX from the loaded HC11 cells (Table 2). The secretion of MX was reduced to about 65% in the differentiated ones. The results obtained in the transport experiments with ³H-MX showed that the accumulation of MX in HC11 cells increased 2-fold by Bcrp RNAi as compared to the MX accumulation in the mock transfected HC11 cells (Table 2).

Our results showed that the net accumulation of MX was higher in the differentiated HC11 cells as compared to the undifferentiated controls despite an apparent higher expression of Bcrp. This may, at least in part, be explained by a reduced expression of Mdr1. Although MX extrusion is predominantly mediated by Bcrp it has been demonstrated that MX can be transported to the extracellular compartment by Mdr1 although this transporter harbors less substrate specificity for MX than Bcrp and thus requires higher substrate

concentrations (Kodaira *et al.*, 2010; Rautio *et al.*, 2006; Ahmed-Belkacem *et al.*, 2005). Numerous SLC transporters, comprising both organic cation transporters (OCTs) and organic anion polypeptide transporters (OATPs), in mammary epithelial cells are affected at the transcriptional level by lactogenic stimulation (Gilchrist & Alcorn, 2010; Alcorn & McNamara, 2002) including some with potential MX affinity. It may, hence, be possible that the increased accumulation of MX in the HC11 cells featuring a secretory phenotype as opposed to the undifferentiated ones is not only connected to the reduced expression of Mdr1 observed herein, but also to a concerted action of a number of other transporters including Oct or/and Oatp transporters.

1				
Experimental condition	Accumulation	Effect of GF120918 on Accumulation	Secretion	Effect of GF120918 on Secretion
Undifferentiated	521 ± 86^{a}	-	63 ± 9^{e}	-
Undifferentiated + GF120918	631 ± 45^{b}	121%	$41 \pm 2^{\mathbf{f}}$	65%
Differentiated	$655 \pm 125^{\circ}$	-	103 ± 7^{g}	-
Differentiated + GF120918	$893 \pm 153^{\textit{d}}$	136%	$71\pm10^{\rm h}$	69%
Undifferentiated Mock	505 ± 30^{i}	-	-	-
Undifferentiated RNAi	$1023 \pm 42^{\mathbf{j}}$	-	-	-

Table 2. Accumulation and secretion of ³H-mitoxantrone in undifferentiated, differentiated and BCRP siRNA transfected HC11 cells. The data are presented as pmol mitoxantrone/mg cellular protein.

^{bc}Statistically significant increased accumulation as compared to **a**, p≤0.05;

^dStatistically significant increased accumulation as compared to \mathbf{c} , p ≤ 0.01 ;

^fStatistically significant decreased secretion as compared to \mathbf{e} , p ≤ 0.01 ;

^gStatistically significant increased secretion as compared to \mathbf{e} , p ≤ 0.01 ;

^hStatistically significant decreased secretion as compared to \mathbf{g} , p≤0.01

^jStatistically significant increased accumulation as compared to i, $p \le 0.01$.

4.5 Effects of prochloraz on gene expression and function of transporters (paper II)

4.5.1 Gene expression

In the present investigation the imidazole fungicide prochloraz (N-propyl-N-[2-(2,4,6-trichlorophenoxy)ethyl]-1H-imidazole-1-carboxamide) used in hortiand agriculture (EFSA, 2011) was chosen as a test compound to examine the effect on the transporters expressed in the HC11 and BME-UV cell lines. In differentiated HC11 cells, prochloraz treatment at non-cytotoxic concentrations resulted in a down regulation of gene expressions for Bcrp, Oatp1a5 and Octn1 (Figure 4, left). Mdr1 mRNA levels were significantly induced at the two highest concentrations of prochloraz (10 and 30 μ M) (Figure 4, left). No statistically significant differences were observed for gene expressions of β -casein, Mrp1 and Oct1 after prochloraz exposure (Figure 4, left). In BME-UV cells, gene expressions of MDR1 and MRP1 were induced at the highest concentration of prochloraz (30 μ M) (Figure 4, right).



Figure 4. Relative gene expression of transporters following prochloraz treatment in differentiated HC11 and confluent BME-UV cells. Statistically significant differences as compared to controls $p \le 0.05$; $p \le 0.01$; $p \le 0.01$.

Prochloraz has been reported to increase Bcrp expression in primary bovine mammary epithelial cells (Halwachs *et al.*, 2013) and is transported to milk (Vinggaard *et al.*, 2005). However, in the differentiated HC11 cells prochloraz did not induce, but rather reduced Bcrp expression. Causes for this discrepancy can only be speculated upon but may depend on differences in experimental conditions such as prochloraz concentrations used, exposure times, or species differences in the display of transcription factors and regulation in BCRP gene expression. It can be noted that (Tan *et al.*, 2010) reported that TCDD treatment resulted in induction of human but not murine BCRP transcripts.

Interestingly, the results obtained in the present study showed that prochloraz induced gene expression of Mdr1 and MDR1 in both differentiated

HC11 and BME-UV cells, respectively. In addition, MRP1 expression was upregulated by prochloraz in BME-UV cells. Based on predominant expressions of MDR1 and MRP1 in excretory organs which have roles in elimination of drugs and xenobiotics; one possible explanation can be that both MDR1 and MRP1 undertake protective roles as efflux pumps in order to prevent accumulation of chemicals and toxic effects in the cells. The localization and induction of MDR1 in the apical membranes of mammary epithelial cells may consequently result in an active transport of toxic compounds into milk. It has been shown that digoxin is a MDR1 substrate (Taipalensuu *et al.*, 2004).

4.5.2 Function

Differentiated HC11 and confluent BME-UV cells were exposed to 30 μ M prochloraz for 24h as described above and the function of MDR1 was studied using digoxin as a substrate. Accumulation of digoxin was significantly reduced in prochloraz treated HC11 cells compared to the controls cells. Also in BME-UV cells a lower, although not statistically significant, accumulation of digoxin was observed after prochloraz treatment (Figure 5).



Figure 5. The accumulation of ³H-digoxin in differentiated HC11 and confluent BME-UV cells, treated with 30 uM prochloraz for 24h as described in Paper II. Statistically significant differences as compared to controls *p ≤ 0.05 .

The increased MDR1 expression in prochloraz exposed mammary epithelial cells demonstrates that chemicals may disrupt the expression and function of transporters and increase secretion of hazardous chemicals in milk.

5 Conclusions

Conclusions from the combined results from papers I and II are:

- Gene expressions of ABC- and SLC- transporters differ at various stages of mammary gland development and probably reflect the physiological role of these proteins in the delivery of essential nutrients into milk.
- Murine mammary epithelial HC11 cells feature endogenous expressions of Bcrp, Mdr1, Mrp1, Oatp1a5, Octn1 and Oct1. Gene expressions of Bcrp, Mdr1 and Oatp1a5 in undifferentiated and differentiated murine mammary epithelial HC11 cells correlate to expressions in the mammary glands of non-lactating and lactating mice. Bovine mammary epithelial BME-UV cells feature endogenous expressions of MDR1 and MRP1.
- The imidazole fungicide prochloraz causes an increased secretion of the MDR1 substrate digoxin in both differentiated HC11 and in BME-UV cells, which can be explained by induced gene expression MDR1.
- The HC11 and BME-UV mammary cell models can be used both to examine if chemical compounds are actively transported across the mammary epithelium and if they disrupt the normal function of transporters.
- The models are valuable tools for identifying substrates, inhibitors and inducers of ABC- and SLC- transporters expressed in the mammary epithelium during lactation.

6 Future Perspectives

- In the project we have developed mammary cell models for screening substrates, inhibitors and inducers of various ABC- and SLC- transporters expressed in the mammary epithelium during lactation. These models could be applied in future studies to examine if drugs and other chemicals are substrates for any of the ABC- and SLC-transporters which would result in high concentrations in milk. In addition, chemical compounds affecting expression or function of ABC- and SLC-transporters in the lactating mammary tissue may cause changes in the composition of nutrients in milk with potential adverse health effects in breastfed infants or dairy consumers.
- The present studies were mainly focused on gene expression of transporters. Studies on the protein expressions of transporters in the mammary cell models are needed.
- Little is known about localization of the ABC- and SLC-transporters in the mammary tissue. To understand the physiological role of transporters in the membranes of mammary epithelial cells during lactation studies should be performed to localize these transporters in mammary tissue.
- Mastitis and especially subclinical mastitis is a common disease in cows caused by bacterial infection. It has been shown that inflammation of tissues due to bacterial infection affect expression and function of transporters in various cell types. Thus, it would be of interest to apply the mammary cell models in infection studies to assess the impact of bacterial infection on expression and function of transporters.

References

- Agatonovic-Kustrin, S., Ling, L.H., Tham, S.Y. & Alany, R.G. (2002). Molecular descriptors that influence the amount of drugs transfer into human breast milk. *J Pharm Biomed Anal*, 29(1-2), pp. 103-19.
- Ahmed-Belkacem, A., Pozza, A., Munoz-Martinez, F., Bates, S.E., Castanys, S., Gamarro, F., Di Pietro, A. & Perez-Victoria, J.M. (2005). Flavonoid structure-activity studies identify 6-prenylchrysin and tectochrysin as potent and specific inhibitors of breast cancer resistance protein ABCG2. *Cancer Res*, 65(11), pp. 4852-60.
- Alcorn, J., Lu, X., Moscow, J.A. & McNamara, P.J. (2002). Transporter gene expression in lactating and nonlactating human mammary epithelial cells using real-time reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 303(2), pp. 487-96.
- Alcorn, J. & McNamara, P.J. (2002). Acyclovir, Ganciclovir, and Zidovudine Transfer into Rat Milk. *Antimicrobial Agents and Chemotherapy*, 46(6), pp. 1831-1836.
- Arakawa, H., Shirasaka, Y., Haga, M., Nakanishi, T. & Tamai, I. (2012). Active intestinal absorption of fluoroquinolone antibacterial agent ciprofloxacin by organic anion transporting polypeptide, Oatp1a5. *Biopharm Drug Dispos*, 33(6), pp. 332-41.
- Assaraf, Y.G. (2006). The role of multidrug resistance efflux transporters in antifolate resistance and folate homeostasis. *Drug Resist Updat*, 9(4-5), pp. 227-46.
- Bakos, E. & Homolya, L. (2007). Portrait of multifaceted transporter, the multidrug resistance-associated protein 1 (MRP1/ABCC1). *Pflugers Arch*, 453(5), pp. 621-41.
- Ball, R.K., Friis, R.R., Schoenenberger, C.A., Doppler, W. & Groner, B. (1988). Prolactin regulation of beta-casein gene expression and of a cytosolic 120kd protein in a cloned mouse mammary epithelial cell line. *EMBO J*, 7(7), pp. 2089-95.

- Blum, J.L., Zeigler, M.E. & Wicha, M.S. (1989). Regulation of mammary differentiation by the extracellular matrix. *Environ Health Perspect*, 80, pp. 71-83.
- Bole-Feysot, C., Goffin, V., Edery, M., Binart, N. & Kelly, P.A. (1998). Prolactin (PRL) and its receptor: actions, signal transduction pathways and phenotypes observed in PRL receptor knockout mice. *Endocr Rev*, 19(3), pp. 225-68.
- Boyd, C. & Naray-Fejes-Toth, A. (2007). Steroid-mediated regulation of the epithelial sodium channel subunits in mammary epithelial cells. *Endocrinology*, 148(8), pp. 3958-67.
- Burgoyne, R.D. & Duncan, J.S. (1998). Secretion of milk proteins. *J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia*, 3(3), pp. 275-86.
- Chan, L.M.S., Lowes, S. & Hirst, B.H. (2004). The ABCs of drug transport in intestine and liver: efflux proteins limiting drug absorption and bioavailability. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 21(1), pp. 25-51.
- Cole, S.P., Bhardwaj, G., Gerlach, J.H., Mackie, J.E., Grant, C.E., Almquist, K.C., Stewart, A.J., Kurz, E.U., Duncan, A.M. & Deeley, R.G. (1992). Overexpression of a transporter gene in a multidrug-resistant human lung cancer cell line. *Science*, 258(5088), pp. 1650-4.
- Couture, L., Nash, J.A. & Turgeon, J. (2006). The ATP-binding cassette transporters and their implication in drug disposition: a special look at the heart. *Pharmacol Rev*, 58(2), pp. 244-58.
- Danielson, K.G., Oborn, C.J., Durban, E.M., Butel, J.S. & Medina, D. (1984). Epithelial mouse mammary cell line exhibiting normal morphogenesis in vivo and functional differentiation in vitro. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 81(12), pp. 3756-60.
- Darnerud, P.O., Atuma, S., Aune, M., Bjerselius, R., Glynn, A., Grawe, K.P. & Becker, W. (2006). Dietary intake estimations of organohalogen contaminants (dioxins, PCB, PBDE and chlorinated pesticides, e.g. DDT) based on Swedish market basket data. *Food Chem Toxicol*, 44(9), pp. 1597-606.
- Desrivieres, S., Kuhn, K., Muller, J., Glaser, M., Laria, N.C., Korder, J., Sonnentag, M., Neumann, T., Schwarz, J., Schafer, J., Hamon, C., Groner, B. & Prinz, T. (2007). Comparison of the nuclear proteomes of mammary epithelial cells at different stages of functional differentiation. *Proteomics*, 7(12), pp. 2019-37.
- Desrivieres, S., Prinz, T., Castro-Palomino Laria, N., Meyer, M., Boehm, G., Bauer, U., Schafer, J., Neumann, T., Shemanko, C. & Groner, B. (2003). Comparative proteomic analysis of proliferating and functionally differentiated mammary epithelial cells. *Mol Cell Proteomics*, 2(10), pp. 1039-54.
- Doyle, L.A., Yang, W., Abruzzo, L.V., Krogmann, T., Gao, Y., Rishi, A.K. & Ross, D.D. (1998). A multidrug resistance transporter from human MCF-7 breast cancer cells. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 95(26), pp. 15665-70.

- Dykxhoorn, D.M., Novina, C.D. & Sharp, P.A. (2003). Killing the messenger: short RNAs that silence gene expression. *Nat Rev Mol Cell Biol*, 4(6), pp. 457-67.
- EFSA (2011). Conclusion on the peer review of the pesticide risk assessment of the active substance prochloraz. *EFSA Journal*, 9(7), p. 2323.
- Fetsch, P.A., Abati, A., Litman, T., Morisaki, K., Honjo, Y., Mittal, K. & Bates, S.E. (2006). Localization of the ABCG2 mitoxantrone resistanceassociated protein in normal tissues. *Cancer Lett*, 235(1), pp. 84-92.
- Fleishaker, J.C. (2003). Models and methods for predicting drug transfer into human milk. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 55(5), pp. 643-652.
- Fredriksson, R., Nordstrom, K.J., Stephansson, O., Hagglund, M.G. & Schioth, H.B. (2008). The solute carrier (SLC) complement of the human genome: phylogenetic classification reveals four major families. *FEBS Lett*, 582(27), pp. 3811-6.
- Gerk, P.M., Kuhn, R.J., Desai, N.S. & McNamara, P.J. (2001). Active transport of nitrofurantoin into human milk. *Pharmacotherapy*, 21(6), pp. 669-75.
- Gilchrist, S.E. & Alcorn, J. (2010). Lactation stage-dependent expression of transporters in rat whole mammary gland and primary mammary epithelial organoids. *Fundam Clin Pharmacol*, 24(2), pp. 205-14.
- Gradhand, U. & Kim, R.B. (2008). Pharmacogenomics of MRP transporters (ABCC1-5) and BCRP (ABCG2). *Drug Metab Rev*, 40(2), pp. 317-54.
- Groner, B. & Gouilleux, F. (1995). Prolactin-mediated gene activation in mammary epithelial cells. *Curr Opin Genet Dev*, 5(5), pp. 587-94.
- Grundemann, D., Gorboulev, V., Gambaryan, S., Veyhl, M. & Koepsell, H. (1994). Drug excretion mediated by a new prototype of polyspecific transporter. *Nature*, 372(6506), pp. 549-52.
- Hagenbuch, B. & Meier, P.J. (2003). The superfamily of organic anion transporting polypeptides. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1609(1), pp. 1-18.
- Hagenbuch, B. & Meier, P.J. (2004). Organic anion transporting polypeptides of the OATP/ SLC21 family: phylogenetic classification as OATP/ SLCO superfamily, new nomenclature and molecular/functional properties. *Pflugers Arch*, 447(5), pp. 653-65.
- Hallen, I.P., Breitholtz-Emanuelsson, A., Hult, K., Olsen, M. & Oskarsson, A. (1998). Placental and lactational transfer of ochratoxin A in rats. *Nat Toxins*, 6(1), pp. 43-9.
- Halwachs, S., Wassermann, L., Lindner, S., Zizzadoro, C. & Honscha, W. (2013). Fungicide prochloraz and environmental pollutant dioxin induce the ABCG2 transporter in bovine mammary epithelial cells by the arylhydrocarbon receptor signaling pathway. *Toxicol Sci*, 131(2), pp. 491-501.
- Haug, A., Hostmark, A.T. & Harstad, O.M. (2007). Bovine milk in human nutrition--a review. *Lipids Health Dis*, 6, p. 25.
- Hoffmann, U. & Kroemer, H.K. (2004). The ABC transporters MDR1 and MRP2: multiple functions in disposition of xenobiotics and drug resistance. *Drug Metab Rev*, 36(3-4), pp. 669-701.

- Imai, Y., Asada, S., Tsukahara, S., Ishikawa, E., Tsuruo, T. & Sugimoto, Y. (2003). Breast cancer resistance protein exports sulfated estrogens but not free estrogens. *Mol Pharmacol*, 64(3), pp. 610-8.
- Ito, N., Ito, K., Ikebuchi, Y., Kito, T., Miyata, H., Toyoda, Y., Takada, T., Hisaka, A., Honma, M., Oka, A., Kusuhara, H. & Suzuki, H. (2014). Organic cation transporter/solute carrier family 22a is involved in drug transfer into milk in mice. *J Pharm Sci*, 103(10), pp. 3342-8.
- Ito, S. & Alcorn, J. (2003). Xenobiotic transporter expression and function in the human mammary gland. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 55(5), pp. 653-665.
- Ito, S. & Lee, A. (2003). Drug excretion into breast milk—Overview. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 55(5), pp. 617-627.
- Jani, M., Ambrus, C., Magnan, R., Jakab, K.T., Beery, E., Zolnerciks, J.K. & Krajcsi, P. (2014). Structure and function of BCRP, a broad specificity transporter of xenobiotics and endobiotics. *Arch Toxicol*, 88(6), pp. 1205-48.
- Jones, P.M. & George, A.M. (2004). The ABC transporter structure and mechanism: perspectives on recent research. *Cell Mol Life Sci*, 61(6), pp. 682-99.
- Jonker, J.W., Merino, G., Musters, S., van Herwaarden, A.E., Bolscher, E., Wagenaar, E., Mesman, E., Dale, T.C. & Schinkel, A.H. (2005). The breast cancer resistance protein BCRP (ABCG2) concentrates drugs and carcinogenic xenotoxins into milk. *Nat Med*, 11(2), pp. 127-9.
- Jonker, J.W. & Schinkel, A.H. (2004). Pharmacological and physiological functions of the polyspecific organic cation transporters: OCT1, 2, and 3 (SLC22A1-3). *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 308(1), pp. 2-9.
- Juliano, R.L. & Ling, V. (1976). A surface glycoprotein modulating drug permeability in Chinese hamster ovary cell mutants. *Biochim Biophys* Acta, 455(1), pp. 152-62.
- Kabotyanski, E.B., Huetter, M., Xian, W., Rijnkels, M. & Rosen, J.M. (2006). Integration of prolactin and glucocorticoid signaling at the beta-casein promoter and enhancer by ordered recruitment of specific transcription factors and chromatin modifiers. *Mol Endocrinol*, 20(10), pp. 2355-68.
- Kalliokoski, A. & Niemi, M. (2009). Impact of OATP transporters on pharmacokinetics. *Br J Pharmacol*, 158(3), pp. 693-705.
- Kelleher, S.L. & Lonnerdal, B. (2005). Zip3 plays a major role in zinc uptake into mammary epithelial cells and is regulated by prolactin. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 288(5), pp. C1042-7.
- Kelleher, S.L. & Lonnerdal, B. (2006). Mammary gland copper transport is stimulated by prolactin through alterations in Ctr1 and Atp7A localization. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 291(4), pp. R1181-91.
- Kindla, J., Rau, T.T., Jung, R., Fasching, P.A., Strick, R., Stoehr, R., Hartmann, A., Fromm, M.F. & Konig, J. (2011). Expression and localization of the uptake transporters OATP2B1, OATP3A1 and OATP5A1 in non-

malignant and malignant breast tissue. *Cancer Biol Ther*, 11(6), pp. 584-91.

- Klaassen, C.D. & Aleksunes, L.M. (2010). Xenobiotic, bile acid, and cholesterol transporters: function and regulation. *Pharmacol Rev*, 62(1), pp. 1-96.
- Kodaira, H., Kusuhara, H., Ushiki, J., Fuse, E. & Sugiyama, Y. (2010). Kinetic analysis of the cooperation of P-glycoprotein (P-gp/Abcb1) and breast cancer resistance protein (Bcrp/Abcg2) in limiting the brain and testis penetration of erlotinib, flavopiridol, and mitoxantrone. *J Pharmacol Exp Ther*, 333(3), pp. 788-96.
- Koepsell, H. (2013). The SLC22 family with transporters of organic cations, anions and zwitterions. *Mol Aspects Med*, 34(2-3), pp. 413-35.
- Koepsell, H. & Endou, H. (2004). The SLC22 drug transporter family. *Pflugers Arch*, 447(5), pp. 666-76.
- Kwok, B., Yamauchi, A., Rajesan, R., Chan, L., Dhillon, U., Gao, W., Xu, H., Wang, B., Takahashi, S., Semple, J., Tamai, I., Nezu, J., Tsuji, A., Harper, P. & Ito, S. (2006). Carnitine/xenobiotics transporters in the human mammary gland epithelia, MCF12A. *Am J Physiol Regul Integr Comp Physiol*, 290(3), pp. R793-802.
- Lamhonwah, A.M., Mai, L., Chung, C., Lamhonwah, D., Ackerley, C. & Tein, I. (2011). Upregulation of mammary gland OCTNs maintains carnitine homeostasis in suckling infants. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 404(4), pp. 1010-5.
- Lamhonwah, A.M. & Tein, I. (2006). Novel localization of OCTN1, an organic cation/carnitine transporter, to mammalian mitochondria. *Biochem Biophys Res Commun*, 345(4), pp. 1315-25.
- Larson, B.L. (1976). Comparative production of beta-lactoglobulin and orotic acid with lactose in bovine mammary cell cultures: effects of cell density and constituent inhibition. *J Dairy Sci*, 59(11), pp. 1881-9.
- Leonessa, F. & Clarke, R. (2003). ATP binding cassette transporters and drug resistance in breast cancer. *Endocr Relat Cancer*, 10(1), pp. 43-73.
- Leslie, E.M., Deeley, R.G. & Cole, S.P. (2005). Multidrug resistance proteins: role of P-glycoprotein, MRP1, MRP2, and BCRP (ABCG2) in tissue defense. *Toxicol Appl Pharmacol*, 204(3), pp. 216-37.
- Lindner, S., Halwachs, S., Wassermann, L. & Honscha, W. (2013). Expression and subcellular localization of efflux transporter ABCG2/BCRP in important tissue barriers of lactating dairy cows, sheep and goats. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*, 36(6), pp. 562-70.
- Ling, B. & Alcorn, J. (2010). LPS-induced inflammation downregulates mammary gland glucose, fatty acid, and L-carnitine transporter expression at different lactation stages. *Res Vet Sci*, 89(2), pp. 200-2.
- Litman, T., Brangi, M., Hudson, E., Fetsch, P., Abati, A., Ross, D.D., Miyake, K., Resau, J.H. & Bates, S.E. (2000). The multidrug-resistant phenotype associated with overexpression of the new ABC half-transporter, MXR (ABCG2). *J Cell Sci*, 113 (Pt 11), pp. 2011-21.

- Liu, T. & Li, Q. (2014). Organic anion-transporting polypeptides: a novel approach for cancer therapy. *J Drug Target*, 22(1), pp. 14-22.
- Liu, W., Capuco, A.V. & Romagnolo, D.F. (2006). Expression of cytosolic NADP+-dependent isocitrate dehydrogenase in bovine mammary epithelium: Modulation by regulators of differentiation and metabolic effectors. *Exp Biol Med (Maywood)*, 231(5), pp. 599-610.
- Livak, K.J. & Schmittgen, T.D. (2001). Analysis of relative gene expression data using real-time quantitative PCR and the 2(-Delta Delta C(T)) Method. *Methods*, 25(4), pp. 402-8.
- Lucas, A. & Mitchell, M.D. (1980). Prostaglandins in human milk. *Arch Dis Child*, 55(12), pp. 950-2.
- Maliepaard, M., Scheffer, G.L., Faneyte, I.F., van Gastelen, M.A., Pijnenborg, A.C., Schinkel, A.H., van De Vijver, M.J., Scheper, R.J. & Schellens, J.H. (2001). Subcellular localization and distribution of the breast cancer resistance protein transporter in normal human tissues. *Cancer Res*, 61(8), pp. 3458-64.
- McCormick, N.H. & Kelleher, S.L. (2012). ZnT4 provides zinc to zinc-dependent proteins in the trans-Golgi network critical for cell function and Zn export in mammary epithelial cells. *Am J Physiol Cell Physiol*, 303(3), pp. C291-7.
- McManaman, J.L. & Neville, M.C. (2003). Mammary physiology and milk secretion. *Adv Drug Deliv Rev*, 55(5), pp. 629-641.
- Merino, G., Alvarez, A.I., Pulido, M.M., Molina, A.J., Schinkel, A.H. & Prieto, J.G. (2006). Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) transports fluoroquinolone antibiotics and affects their oral availability, pharmacokinetics, and milk secretion. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 34(4), pp. 690-5.
- Merino, G., Jonker, J.W., Wagenaar, E., van Herwaarden, A.E. & Schinkel, A.H. (2005). The breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2) affects pharmacokinetics, hepatobiliary excretion, and milk secretion of the antibiotic nitrofurantoin. *Mol Pharmacol*, 67(5), pp. 1758-64.
- Meucci, V., Razzuoli, E., Soldani, G. & Massart, F. (2010). Mycotoxin detection in infant formula milks in Italy. *Food Addit Contam Part A Chem Anal Control Expo Risk Assess*, 27(1), pp. 64-71.
- Monzani, P.S., Bressan, F.F., Mesquita, L.G., Sangalli, J.R. & Meirelles, F.V. (2011). beta-casein gene expression by in vitro cultured bovine mammary epithelial cells derived from developing mammary glands. *Genet Mol Res*, 10(2), pp. 604-14.
- Neville, M.C., McFadden, T.B. & Forsyth, I. (2002). Hormonal regulation of mammary differentiation and milk secretion. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 7(1), pp. 49-66.
- Ohlsson, A., Ulleras, E. & Oskarsson, A. (2009). A biphasic effect of the fungicide prochloraz on aldosterone, but not cortisol, secretion in human adrenal H295R cells--underlying mechanisms. *Toxicol Lett*, 191(2-3), pp. 174-80.

- Oskarsson, A., Palminger Hallen, I. & Sundberg, J. (1995). Exposure to toxic elements via breast milk. *Analyst*, 120(3), pp. 765-70.
- Oskarsson, A., Palminger Hallen, I., Sundberg, J. & Petersson Grawe, K. (1998). Risk assessment in relation to neonatal metal exposure. *Analyst*, 123(1), pp. 19-23.
- Pauloin, A. & Chanat, E. (2012). Prolactin and epidermal growth factor stimulate adipophilin synthesis in HC11 mouse mammary epithelial cells via the PI3-kinase/Akt/mTOR pathway. *Biochim Biophys Acta*, 1823(5), pp. 987-96.
- Pereira, P.C. (2014). Milk nutritional composition and its role in human health. *Nutrition*, 30(6), pp. 619-27.
- Pulido, M.M., Molina, A.J., Merino, G., Mendoza, G., Prieto, J.G. & Alvarez, A.I. (2006). Interaction of enrofloxacin with breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2): influence of flavonoids and role in milk secretion in sheep. *J Vet Pharmacol Ther*, 29(4), pp. 279-87.
- Rautio, J., Humphreys, J.E., Webster, L.O., Balakrishnan, A., Keogh, J.P., Kunta, J.R., Serabjit-Singh, C.J. & Polli, J.W. (2006). In vitro p-glycoprotein inhibition assays for assessment of clinical drug interaction potential of new drug candidates: a recommendation for probe substrates. *Drug Metab Dispos*, 34(5), pp. 786-92.
- Richert, M.M., Schwertfeger, K.L., Ryder, J.W. & Anderson, S.M. (2000). An atlas of mouse mammary gland development. J Mammary Gland Biol Neoplasia, 5(2), pp. 227-41.
- Robinson, G.W., McKnight, R.A., Smith, G.H. & Hennighausen, L. (1995). Mammary epithelial cells undergo secretory differentiation in cycling virgins but require pregnancy for the establishment of terminal differentiation. *Development*, 121(7), pp. 2079-90.
- Ross, D.G., Smart, C.E., Azimi, I., Roberts-Thomson, S.J. & Monteith, G.R. (2013). Assessment of ORAI1-mediated basal calcium influx in mammary epithelial cells. *BMC Cell Biol*, 14, p. 57.
- Roth, M., Obaidat, A. & Hagenbuch, B. (2012). OATPs, OATs and OCTs: the organic anion and cation transporters of the SLCO and SLC22A gene superfamilies. *Br J Pharmacol*, 165(5), pp. 1260-87.
- Russel, F.G.M. (2010). Transporters: Importance in Drug Absorption, Distribution, and Removal, pp. 27-49.
- Russell, T.D., Palmer, C.A., Orlicky, D.J., Fischer, A., Rudolph, M.C., Neville, M.C. & McManaman, J.L. (2007). Cytoplasmic lipid droplet accumulation in developing mammary epithelial cells: roles of adipophilin and lipid metabolism. *J Lipid Res*, 48(7), pp. 1463-75.
- Sai, Y. & Tsuji, A. (2004). Transporter-mediated drug delivery: recent progress and experimental approaches. *Drug Discovery Today*, 9(16), pp. 712-720.
- Schaum, J., Schuda, L., Wu, C., Sears, R., Ferrario, J. & Andrews, K. (2003). A national survey of persistent, bioaccumulative, and toxic (PBT) pollutants in the United States milk supply. *J Expo Anal Environ Epidemiol*, 13(3), pp. 177-86.

- Schmid, P., Gujer, E., Zennegg, M. & Studer, C. (2003). Temporal and local trends of PCDD/F levels in cow's milk in Switzerland. *Chemosphere*, 53(2), pp. 129-136.
- Shan, L., Zhang, R., Zhang, W., Lee, E., Sridhar, R., Snyderwine, E.G. & Wang, P.C. (2008). Image-based evaluation of the molecular events underlying HC11 mammary epithelial cell differentiation. *Anal Biochem*, 382(2), pp. 122-8.
- Shi, H., Zhu, J., Luo, J., Cao, W., Yao, D., Li, J., Sun, Y., Xu, H., Yu, K. & Loor, J.J. (2014). Genes regulating lipid and protein metabolism are highly expressed in mammary gland of lactating dairy goats. *Funct Integr Genomics*.
- Shukla, S., Wu, C.P., Nandigama, K. & Ambudkar, S.V. (2007). The naphthoquinones, vitamin K3 and its structural analogue plumbagin, are substrates of the multidrug resistance linked ATP binding cassette drug transporter ABCG2. *Mol Cancer Ther*, 6(12 Pt 1), pp. 3279-86.
- Silva, R., Vilas-Boas, V., Carmo, H., Dinis-Oliveira, R.J., Carvalho, F., de Lourdes Bastos, M. & Remiao, F. (2015). Modulation of P-glycoprotein efflux pump: induction and activation as a therapeutic strategy. *Pharmacol Ther*, 149, pp. 1-123.
- Staud, F. & Pavek, P. (2005). Breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). *Int J Biochem Cell Biol*, 37(4), pp. 720-5.
- Stocklin, E., Wissler, M., Gouilleux, F. & Groner, B. (1996). Functional interactions between Stat5 and the glucocorticoid receptor. *Nature*, 383(6602), pp. 726-8.
- Szakacs, G., Varadi, A., Ozvegy-Laczka, C. & Sarkadi, B. (2008). The role of ABC transporters in drug absorption, distribution, metabolism, excretion and toxicity (ADME-Tox). *Drug Discov Today*, 13(9-10), pp. 379-93.
- Taipalensuu, J., Tavelin, S., Lazorova, L., Svensson, A.-C. & Artursson, P. (2004). Exploring the quantitative relationship between the level of MDR1 transcript, protein and function using digoxin as a marker of MDR1dependent drug efflux activity. *European Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 21(1), pp. 69-75.
- Tamai, I., Yabuuchi, H., Nezu, J.-i., Sai, Y., Oku, A., Shimane, M. & Tsuji, A. (1997). Cloning and characterization of a novel human pH-dependent organic cation transporter, OCTN1. *FEBS Lett*, 419(1), pp. 107-111.
- Tan, K.P., Wang, B., Yang, M., Boutros, P.C., Macaulay, J., Xu, H., Chuang, A.I., Kosuge, K., Yamamoto, M., Takahashi, S., Wu, A.M., Ross, D.D., Harper, P.A. & Ito, S. (2010). Aryl hydrocarbon receptor is a transcriptional activator of the human breast cancer resistance protein (BCRP/ABCG2). *Mol Pharmacol*, 78(2), pp. 175-85.
- Tornkvist, A., Glynn, A., Aune, M., Darnerud, P.O. & Ankarberg, E.H. (2011). PCDD/F, PCB, PBDE, HBCD and chlorinated pesticides in a Swedish market basket from 2005--levels and dietary intake estimations. *Chemosphere*, 83(2), pp. 193-9.

- Walters, H.C., Craddock, A.L., Fusegawa, H., Willingham, M.C. & Dawson, P.A. (2000). Expression, transport properties, and chromosomal location of organic anion transporter subtype 3. Am J Physiol Gastrointest Liver Physiol, 279(6), pp. G1188-200.
- van Herwaarden, A.E., Wagenaar, E., Merino, G., Jonker, J.W., Rosing, H., Beijnen, J.H. & Schinkel, A.H. (2007). Multidrug transporter ABCG2/breast cancer resistance protein secretes riboflavin (vitamin B2) into milk. *Mol Cell Biol*, 27(4), pp. 1247-53.
- Warinner, C., Hendy, J., Speller, C., Cappellini, E., Fischer, R., Trachsel, C., Arneborg, J., Lynnerup, N., Craig, O.E., Swallow, D.M., Fotakis, A., Christensen, R.J., Olsen, J.V., Liebert, A., Montalva, N., Fiddyment, S., Charlton, S., Mackie, M., Canci, A., Bouwman, A., Ruhli, F., Gilbert, M.T. & Collins, M.J. (2014). Direct evidence of milk consumption from ancient human dental calculus. *Sci Rep*, 4, p. 7104.
- Wartmann, M., Cella, N., Hofer, P., Groner, B., Liu, X., Hennighausen, L. & Hynes, N.E. (1996). Lactogenic Hormone Activation of Stat5 and Transcription of the -Casein Gene in Mammary Epithelial Cells Is Independent of p42 ERK2 Mitogen-activated Protein Kinase Activity. *Journal of Biological Chemistry*, 271(50), pp. 31863-31868.
- Wassermann, L., Halwachs, S., Lindner, S., Honscha, K.U. & Honscha, W. (2013). Determination of functional ABCG2 activity and assessment of drug-ABCG2 interactions in dairy animals using a novel MDCKII in vitro model. *J Pharm Sci*, 102(2), pp. 772-84.
- Vinggaard, A.M., Christiansen, S., Laier, P., Poulsen, M.E., Breinholt, V., Jarfelt, K., Jacobsen, H., Dalgaard, M., Nellemann, C. & Hass, U. (2005). Perinatal exposure to the fungicide prochloraz feminizes the male rat offspring. *Toxicol Sci*, 85(2), pp. 886-97.
- Vinggaard, A.M., Hass, U., Dalgaard, M., Andersen, H.R., Bonefeld-Jorgensen, E., Christiansen, S., Laier, P. & Poulsen, M.E. (2006). Prochloraz: an imidazole fungicide with multiple mechanisms of action. *Int J Androl*, 29(1), pp. 186-92.
- Vlaming, M.L., Lagas, J.S. & Schinkel, A.H. (2009). Physiological and pharmacological roles of ABCG2 (BCRP): recent findings in Abcg2 knockout mice. Adv Drug Deliv Rev, 61(1), pp. 14-25.
- Wolf, F.I., Trapani, V., Simonacci, M., Mastrototaro, L., Cittadini, A. & Schweigel, M. (2010). Modulation of TRPM6 and Na(+)/Mg(2+) exchange in mammary epithelial cells in response to variations of magnesium availability. *J Cell Physiol*, 222(2), pp. 374-81.
- Yabuuchi, H., Tamai, I., Nezu, J., Sakamoto, K., Oku, A., Shimane, M., Sai, Y. & Tsuji, A. (1999). Novel membrane transporter OCTN1 mediates multispecific, bidirectional, and pH-dependent transport of organic cations. J Pharmacol Exp Ther, 289(2), pp. 768-73.
- Zavizion, B., van Duffelen, M., Schaeffer, W. & Politis, I. (1996). Establishment and characterization of a bovine mammary epithelial cell line with unique properties. *In Vitro Cell Dev Biol Anim*, 32(3), pp. 138-48.

- Öhrvik, H., Ulleras, E., Oskarsson, A. & Tallkvist, J. (2011). Effects of cadmium on calcium transporter SPCA, calcium homeostasis and beta-casein expression in the murine mammary epithelium. *Toxicol Lett*, 201(1), pp. 80-5.
- Öhrvik, H., Yoshioka, M., Oskarsson, A. & Tallkvist, J. (2006). Cadmium-induced disturbances in lactating mammary glands of mice. *Toxicol Lett*, 164(3), pp. 207-13.

Acknowledgements

This project was funded by a grant from the research program TvärLivs, which is co-sponsored by the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (Formas), Sweden's Innovation Agency (Vinnova), Swedish Farmer's Foundation for Agricultural Research, the Swedish Food Federation and the Swedish Food Retailer's Federation.

The work was carried out at the Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences, SLU, Uppsala, Sweden.

I would like to express my sincere gratitude to

My main supervisor, Professor Jonas Tallkvist, for the patient and expert guidance in the lab, encouragement and support as an advisor and a friend! You are one of the kindest persons I have known and I hope that I could be as enthusiastic, energetic and successful scientist as you are in the future. I admire your endless knowledge in toxicology and ability to find quick solutions for any kind of problems. Thank you a lot for our scientific discussions that you always have given me inspiration whenever I feel lost. I could never forget your continues support together with your family through the difficult times I had. I feel honoured to have such a great supervisor like you! Thank you for everything.

My co-supervisor, Professor Agneta Oskarsson, for giving me the opportunity to be a postgraduate student in this project and granting my research. I always admire your professional way of seeing things and your optimistic personality. Your endless knowledge and valuable suggestions during the planning of these studies helped me to learn a lot from you. Without your discipline and support I would not be able to complete my studies. Thank you for all the fruitful discussions about life. I would love to hear more of your travel stories and thank you for small gifts I've received from you that I enjoyed a lot. I am so glad that I had you as a supervisor. Thank you for all what you have done!

Professor Christopher Harold Knight, for welcoming me in your laboratory in Denmark. Without your support I could not have the chance to analyse all the samples. It has been my privilege to work closely with you. I have enjoyed the opportunity to watch and learn from your knowledge and experience in laboratory animal science.

Johan Lundqvist, for being an excellent office mate and a very good friend. Thank you for all scientific conversations and for your effort to find answers to my endless questions.

Elizabeth Ekman, for your kindness and always making me feel that I am welcomed in BVF family.

Stefan Örn, for giving positive energy with your jokes that provided a highly enjoyable working atmosphere. Thank you for your support and help.

Gunnar Carlsson, for always being kind and helpful. Thank you for sharing your knowledge in Excel which saved my day for many times.

Agneta Boström, for your excellent technical assistance and help in histology lab and for your moral support.

Pernille Engelsen Etterlin, for always being kind and thoughtful. There were some moments I felt that you were more than a colleague to me. I would never forget your emotional support helping me to get through difficult times. You are a great role model to me as being such a wonderful mother and wife as well as an ambitious researcher. I will miss you!

Suzana Stjelja, for your friendship and for all enjoyable times, sharing various thoughts about life and exciting science discussions.

Maria Löfgren, Karin Olofsson, Johanna Näslund, Carl Ekstrand, Erik Helmersson, Alexandra Leijon, Rodrigo Grandon, Cecilia Ley, Lena Olsén, Fredrik Södersten, Lisa Lindström and Emilia Svala, for creating a calm and wonderful working environment with your smiles and kindness. Special thanks to Maria Löfgren for your patience explaining every question I had during these years and helping me in the lab whenever I needed.

Mojgan Kashi, my former roommate, for all good times at work and outside of work. It was always fun working with you in the lab. I will always remember you!

Anne-Sofie Lundquist, Karin Rudolfsson, Kersti Larsson and Camilla Ottengren, for your kind assistance with all administrative and practical matters.

Åsa Ohlsson Andersson, for helping me with statistics and answering my questions whenever I needed.

All present and former colleagues at the Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, SLU.

Life was not so easy in Sweden! I would like to thank to each of you for all your support during these years:

My beautiful, dearest friend Caroline Broberg! Thank you for being such a good friend over the years. It would not be possible for me to survive without your "stay in touch" messages. Thank you so much for being the shoulder I can always depend on. I will miss you a lot!

Abişkolarım, Serkan Akansel and Umut Cindemir, thank you gentlemen for caring and for always being around when I needed you. You always made me to realize that there is also a world outside the office! Thank you for many beautiful moments that we had in Uppsala and for your support during the past years. Evladim, Boran Sahindal, I am so happy to have you as a friend. Life in Uppsala would have been so much more boring without you!

Arzu Güneş Granberg and İlknur Bayrak Pehlivan, the most beautiful mothers in the world! I am grateful to have met such wonderful and fantastic people like you in my life. Kankaaşıklar, you and your lovely kids inspired me to keep going with my studies! Thank you for everything that you have done for me to feel less home sick and for helping me to get through difficult times. I would also like to thank, eniştelerim, Esat Pehlivan and Fredrik Granberg for providing me a warm family atmosphere. Selçuk Aslan, you were the first person whom I had the first contact when I came to Uppsala. It would not be possible for me to begin this journey without your kind hospitality and friendship. Thank you so much for everything!

Erhan Ozsenturklu, there is no way I can express how grateful I feel for having you as a best friend! You are, without a doubt, the most patient person I have ever known. I owe you a lot for your unconditional support and encouragements through the tough times.

Merve Guldiken, Merve Coskun and Hakan Sahin, thank you for standing beside me during the hardest moments of my life. I am very lucky to have you in my life!

This thesis is dedicated to my father who sadly left this world before seeing it completed. I would not be who I am without him. Seni çok özlüyorum ASLAN Babam ♥

Ailemdeki tüm bireylere bana her zaman destek oldukları ve başarıma olan inançlarını bir gün olsun kaybetmedikleri için çooooook teşekkür ederim.

Canım annem ve biricik babam! Her ikiniz de doğduğum günden bu yana hedeflerime ulaşmam için kendinize özgü yollarla çok çabaladınız. Eğitimim için yıllarca maddi ve manevi desteğinizi hiç eksik etmediğiniz ve bana inandığınız için çok teşekkür ederim.

Last but by no means the least, I would like to express my sincere thanks to my fiancé Reşat Alatlı ♥ who have made the biggest sacrifice to be with me along this impressive journey. Words fail to express my appreciation to my soul mate Reşat for his support, encouragement and persistent confidence in me. I would not be able to make it without your love, patience and understanding.